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STATE BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 12-0475 AC



)

MURPHY M. HUBBARD,
)




)



Respondent.
)

ORDER

Murphy M. Hubbard is subject to discipline because he misappropriated funds from clients’ trusts and because he pled guilty to the criminal offenses of mail fraud and tax evasion.
Procedure


On March 26, 2012, the State Board of Accountancy (“the Board”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Hubbard.  On April 16, 2012, Hubbard was personally served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing.  Hubbard did not file an answer.
The Board filed a motion for summary decision (“the motion”) on October 29, 2012. Hubbard responded to the motion on November 20, 2012.  In support of its motion, the Board submitted its unanswered request for admissions directed to Hubbard.  Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.
  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact or 
any application of law to fact.
  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting pro se.
  Section 536.073
 and our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.420(1) apply that rule to this case.  In Hubbard’s response to the motion, he does not deny any of the allegations in the complaint or attempt to respond to the Board’s request for admissions.  Therefore, the following facts are undisputed.
Findings of Fact

1. Hubbard holds a certificate and license to practice as a certified public accountant (“CPA”) that was originally issued by the Board on March 2, 1987.  Hubbard’s license to practice as a CPA expired on September 30, 2000.
2. Hubbard formerly owned and operated an accounting and tax business known as The Hubbard Group, PC.

3. While he was a CPA, Hubbard controlled two trust funds:  one established by Hazel Beatrice S. Hirst that designated four charities as the beneficiaries, and another established by the heirs of Noel C. Rummens that designated funding for education expenses for Rummens’ surviving heirs and relatives.
4. Hubbard misappropriated over $245,321.00 from the Hirst Trust and used the funds for his personal expenses.
5. Hubbard misappropriated over $143,900.00 from the Rummens trust and used those funds for his own personal expenses.

6. On or about March 3, 2011, Hubbard pled guilty in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri to two counts of mail fraud and one count of tax evasion.
7. As part of his plea agreement, Hubbard acknowledged restitution due and owing to the Hirst estate in the amount of $245,321; to the Rummens estate in the amount of $143,900; and to the Internal Revenue Service in the amount of $79,434.

8. On November 7, 2008, Hubbard was convicted and sentenced to 41 months in prison.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.
  The Board has the burden of proving that Hubbard has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  

Hubbard admitted facts and that those facts authorize discipline.  But statutes and case law instruct us that we must “separately and independently” determine whether such facts constitute cause for discipline.
  Therefore, we independently assess whether the facts admitted allow discipline under the law cited.  


In its complaint, the Board asserts that there is cause for discipline under § 326.310:
2.  The board may file a complaint with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621 or may initiate settlement procedures as provided by section 621.045 against any certified public accountant or permit holder required by this chapter or any person who fails to renew or surrenders the person’s certificate, license or permit for any one or any combination of the following causes:
*   *   *
(2) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for 
any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

*   *   *

(6) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter or any lawful rube or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter;
*   *   *
(8) Revocation, suspension, restriction, modification, limitation, reprimand, warning, censure, probation or other final disciplinary action against the holder of or applicant for a license or other right to practice any profession regulated by this chapter by another state, territory, federal agency or country, whether voluntarily agreed to by the certified public accountant or applicant, including but not limited to the denial of licensure, surrender of a license, allowing a license to expire or lapse, or discontinuing or limiting the practice of accounting while subject to an investigation or while actually under investigation by any licensing authority, branch of the armed forces of the United States of America, court, agency of the state or federal government, or employer;

*   *   *

(13)
Violation of any professional trust or confidence;

In the motion, however, the Board asks that we find cause for discipline only under subdivisions (2), (6), and (13), which we discuss below.
I.  Criminal Offense – Subdivision (2)


Hubbard pled guilty to the felony offense of mail fraud under Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, distribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, security, or other article, or anything represented to be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in any post office or 
authorized depository for mail matter, any matter or thing whatever 
to be sent or delivered by the Postal Service, or deposits or causes to be deposited any mailer or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by any private or commercial interstate carrier, or takes or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or knowingly causes to be delivered by mail or such carrier according to the direction thereon, or at the place at which it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.
He also pled guilty to tax evasion under 26 U.S.C. § 7201:

Any person who willfully attempts in any manner to evade or defeat any tax imposed by this title or the payment thereof shall, in addition to other penalties provided by law, be guilty of a felony and upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than $100,000 ($500,000 in the case of a corporation), or imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both, together with the costs of prosecution.

A.  Reasonably Related to Qualifications


Section 326.280 sets forth the qualifications for licensure as a CPA and requires that all licensees maintain “good moral character.”  Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  We agree that the felony offenses of mail fraud and tax evasion are reasonably related to the qualification of good moral character required for accountants, and they reflect poorly on Hubbard’s own moral character.  There is cause for discipline under § 326.310.2(2).

B.  Essential Elements

An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.
  The Board argues that fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of mail fraud and tax evasion.  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some 
valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.


We agree that fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of mail fraud and tax evasion.  There is cause for discipline under § 326.310.2(2).
C.  Moral Turpitude


The Board argues that mail fraud and tax evasion are crimes involving moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,
 a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court stated that crimes such as frauds necessarily involve moral turpitude.


We find that the crimes of mail fraud and tax evasion, both of which involve dishonesty, involve moral turpitude.
  There is cause for discipline under § 326.310.2(2).
II.  Violation of Regulation – Subdivision (6)


Regulation 20 CSR 2010-3.060(1) provides that a “licensee shall not commit any act that reflects adversely on his or her or the firm’s fitness to engage in the practice of public accounting.”

Hubbard admits and we agree that stealing from a trust established by a client reflects adversely on his fitness to practice as a CPA.  So does tax evasion.  Hubbard violated the regulation, and there is cause for discipline under § 326.310.2(6).
III.  Violation of Professional Trust – Subdivision (13)


Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  It may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.
  

Hubbard’s acts clearly violated the professional trust that his clients placed in him to act as a CPA.  There is cause for discipline under § 326.310.2(13).

Hubbard’s Response to the Motion


In his response to the motion, Hubbard states that he is indigent and cannot hire an attorney, so any action taken now by this Commission would be without his rights fully protected.  He argues that the proper course of action would be to “table” this action until he is released from prison and can hire an attorney.  We read this response as a motion to place Hubbard’s case in abeyance for the duration of his prison term.

Because Hubbard has not rebutted or denied any of the Board’s allegations, we see no reason to place this case in abeyance.  Furthermore, when he is released from prison he may once again apply for a license.  We deny Hubbard’s request.  

Summary


Hubbard is subject to discipline under § 326.310.2(2), (6), and (13).  The Board shall inform us by December 31, 2012,  if it wishes to pursue the other cause for discipline set forth in its complaint.

SO ORDERED on December 17, 2012.
.

________________________________



KAREN A. WINN


Commissioner
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